# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

# CASE NO. SC11-359

# LOWER TRIBUNAL No. 85-8933 CFANO

MARK ALLEN DAVIS,
Appellant,
v.
STATE OF FLORIDA,
Appellee.
INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LINDA McDERMOTT
Florida Bar No. 0102857
McClain & McDermott, P.A.
20301 Grande Oak Blvd.
Suite 118 - 61
Estero, Florida 33928
(850) 322-2172
Fax (954) 564-5412

#### **PRELIMINARY STATEMENT**

This proceeding involves the appeal of the circuit court's summarily denial of Mr. Davis' second successive motion for postconviction relief. The motion was brought pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850 and 3.851.

#### **INTRODUCTION**

On November 30, 2009, the United States Supreme Court issued its decision in *Porter v. McCollum*, 130 S. Ct. 447 (2009). There, the United States Supreme Court ruled that this Court's *Strickland* analysis which appeared in *Porter v. State*, 788 So. 2d 917 (Fla. 2001), was "an unreasonable application of our clearly established law." *Porter v. McCollum*, 130 S. Ct. at 455. Under the Anti-Terrorism Effective Death Penalty Act (AEDPA), the United States Supreme Court was required to give some deference to this Court's application of *Strickland*. It could not grant habeas relief from a state court judgment merely because it disagreed with the state court's application of federal constitutional law. Specifically, habeas relief could only be issued to George Porter if this Court's *Strickland* analysis was not just wrong, but clearly and unreasonably wrong. It is in this context that the United States Supreme Court's ruling in *Porter v. McCollum* must be read.

Mr. Davis' current appeal requires this Court to engage in an introspective look at the import of the decision in *Porter v.*McCollum and consider whether its own unreasonable analysis in *Porter v. State* was merely an aberration or was it in fact indicative of a systemic failure by this Court to properly understanding and apply *Strickland*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984).

In the relatively recent past, this Court has on two occasions assessed the effect to be accorded to a decision by the United States Supreme Court finding that this Court had misapprehended and misapplied United States Supreme Court precedent. In *Hitchcock v. Dugger*, 481 U.S. 393 (1987), the United States Supreme Court granted federal habeas relief because this Court had failed to properly apply *Lockett v. Ohio*, 438 U.S. 586 (1978), and find Eighth Amendment error when a capital jury was not advised that it could and should consider non-statutory mitigating circumstances when returning an advisory verdict in a capital penalty phase proceeding. <sup>2</sup> In *Espinosa v. Florida*, 505 U.S. 1079 (1992), the United States Supreme Court summarily reversed a decision by this Court which found that *Maynard v. Cartwright*, 486 U.S. 356 (1988), was not applicable in Florida because the jury's verdict in a Florida capital penalty phase proceedings was merely advisory. <sup>3</sup>

Following the decisions in *Hitchcock v. Dugger* and *Espinosa v. Florida*, this Court was called upon to address whether other death sentenced individuals whose death sentences had also been affirmed by this Court due to the same misapprehension of federal law should arbitrarily be denied the benefit of the proper construction and application of federal constitutional law. On both occasions, this Court determined that fairness dictated that those, who had not received from this Court the benefit of the proper application of federal constitutional law, should be allowed to re-present their claims and have those claims judged under the proper constitutional standards. *See Thompson v. Dugger*, 515 So. 2d 173, 175 (Fla. 1987)("We hold we are required by this *Hitchcock* decision to re-examine this matter as a new issue of law"); *James v. State*, 615 So. 2d 668, 669 (Fla. 1993) (*Espinosa* to be applied retroactively to Mr. James because "it would not be fair to deprive him of the *Espinosa* ruling").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>The AEDPA was not in effect at the time of the decision in *Hitchcock v. Dugger*, so there was no need for the United States Supreme Court to determine that this Court's decision was clearly or unreasonably wrong. The United States Supreme Court's review in *Hitchcock* was *de novo*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>The decision by the United States Supreme Court in *Espinosa v. Florida* was in the course of direct review of this Court's decision affirming a death sentence on direct appeal. The United States Supreme Court's decision was not through the prism of federal habeas review, and thus the United States Supreme Court employed *de novo* review.

Mr. Davis, whose ineffective assistance of counsel claims were heard and decided by this Court before *Porter v. McCollum* was rendered, seeks in this appeal what George Porter received. Mr. Davis seeks to have his ineffectiveness claims reheard and re-evaluated using the proper *Strickland* standard that the United States Supreme Court applied in Mr. Porter's case to find a re-sentencing was warranted. Mr. Davis seeks the benefit of the same rule of law that was applied to Mr. Porter's ineffective assistance of counsel claims. Mr. Davis seeks the proper application of the *Strickland* standard. Mr. Davis seeks to be treated equally and fairly.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On September 18, 1985, Mr. Davis was indicted and charged with premeditated first degree murder, armed robbery and grand theft (R. 8-10). Mr. Davis pleaded not guilty (R. 68).

Mr. Davis' trial was held in January, 1987. The jury returned a verdict of guilty on each count (R. 217-19). The following week the jury, by an 8 - 4 vote, recommended the death sentence and the trial court imposed death (R. 234, 265-73).

On June 1, 1990, during direct appeal, this Court remanded Mr. Davis' case for a hearing to determine whether Mr. Davis was absent from the courtroom during a critical stage of his trial, and if so, whether he waived his presence.

After a hearing, the court found that Mr. Davis did not make a valid waiver but that he was present during jury selection. This Court affirmed Mr. Davis' convictions and sentences on direct appeal. *Davis v. State*, 586 So. 2d 1038 (1991).

The United States Supreme Court granted certiorari, vacated judgement, and remanded to this Court for reconsideration in light of *Espinosa v. Florida*, 112 S.Ct. 2926 (1992). *Davis v. Florida*, 112 S.Ct. 3021 (1992).

This Court affirmed Mr. Davis 'convictions and sentences on remand from the United States Supreme Court. *Davis v. State*, 620 So. 2d 152 (1993). The United States Supreme Court subsequently denied certiorari. *Davis v. Florida*, 114 S.Ct. 1205 (1994).

In July, 1995, Mr. Davis filed a Rule 3.850 motion (PC-R. 25-191). The motion was amended on May 3, 2000 (PC-R. 2044-2267).

An evidentiary hearing was held on November 5-9, 2001.

On March 28, 2002, the lower court entered an order denying Mr. Davis' claims (PC-R. 2898-2928).

Mr. Davis appealed the lower court's ruling. Simultaneously, Mr. Davis filed a petition for writ of habeas corpus. On October 20, 2005, this Court denied relief. *Davis v. State*, 928 So. 2d 1089 (Fla. 2005). Mr. Davis filed a petition for certiorari in the United States

Supreme Court, which was denied on October 2, 2006. *Davis v. Florida*, 127 S.Ct 206 (2006). On February 28, 2006, Mr. Davis filed a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>When Mr. Porter's case was returned to the circuit court for a re-sentencing, a life sentence was imposed.

successive petition for writ of habeas corpus, based on the United States Supreme Court's ruling in *Roper v. Simmons*, 543 U.S. 551 (2005). This Court denied relief on June 9, 2006. *Davis v. State*, Case No. SC06-394 (June 9, 2006).

On April 19, 2007, Mr. Davis filed a federal petition for writ of habeas corpus in the United States District Court, Middle District of Florida. That petition is currently pending.

On February 21, 2008, Mr. Davis filed a successive Rule 3.851 motion alleging newly discovered evidence (PC-R2. Vol. 1, 1-36). 
Thereafter, on July 3, 2008, the circuit court entered an order denying Mr. Davis' motion without an evidentiary hearing (PC-R2. Vol. II, 200-309). This Court affirmed the circuit court's denial on January 11, 2010. *Davis v, State*, 26 So. 3d 519 (2009). The United States Supreme Court denied certiorari. *Davis v. Florida*, 130 S.Ct. 3509 (2010).

On October 25, 2010, Mr. Davis filed a successive Rule 3.851 motion based upon *Porter v. McCollum*, 130 S.Ct. 447 (2009). The State responded. The circuit court held a case management conference on December 13, 2010. Thereafter, on January 11, 2011, the circuit court summarily denied Mr. Davis' motion. Mr. Davis timely filed a notice of appeal. This appeal follows.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

#### A. THE TRIAL

Mr. Davis was charged with premeditated first-degree murder, armed robbery and grand theft (R. 8-10). Mr. Davis pleaded not guilty to all three counts (R. 68).

On October 26, 1985, the Office of the Public Defender was appointed to represent Mr. Davis (R. 12).

On July 17, 1986, the defense's Motion for Costs to Hire Confidential Psychiatrist/Psychologist was heard (R. 572), at which time the following exchange occurred:

MR. McMILLEN: It may be for the guilt phase also. I would not want to officially, on the record, preclude the guilt phase.

THE COURT: Right.

\* \* \*

MR. McMILLEN: And the facts of this case --

THE COURT: Yeah, this is really weird.

MR. McMILLEN: There may be a psychological situation, not McNaughton, in guilt phase, but could arise, and as a result was recognized as a frenzy-type of action because of the number of stab wounds to this person.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>In addition, Mr. Davis challenged the current lethal injection protocol that was adopted on July 31, 2007.

THE COURT: I have no problem with moving for appointment of a confidential expert.

(R. 572). No expert was retained at this time.

On October 22, 1986, Mr. McMillen withdraw due to a conflict that arose because his office represented a witness who was expected to testify for the State (R. 579-80). The court appointed John Thor White as trial counsel.

Six days before trial, on January 7, 1987, Dr. David Diffendale, a psychologist, was appointed to evaluate Mr. Davis (R. 182). On July 12, 1987, he issued his report (Def. Ex. 1). In his report, Dr. Diffendale noted the following characteristics about Mr. Davis: "impulsivity, low frustration tolerance, lack of trust in others, and deep belief that he is his only protector". Dr. Diffendale went on to state:

The defendant's mental state at the time of the offense was influenced by many factors.

- A. He admits to "drinking all day" and was reportedly seen drinking by witnesses.  $\dots$  The first factor then is he had some degree of alcohol intoxication.
- B. ... The first is his explosive, impulsive anger. He has a history of over-responding with violent anger when sexually approached by males in jail. When asked, he reported continuing to beat others who had approached him long after they had ceased struggling. He reports "loosing (sic) it" when he feels threatened. This mode of behavior may explain the excessive stab wounds.
- C. His slight stature, lack of traditional male success, and alcoholic father all would tend to make him insecure in his role as a man. . . . His psychological test results also suggest severe anxiety over his sexuality. The above would combine to make sexual interaction with another male a threat to his core identity.
- D. The final set of factors likely to effect his mental state at the time of the offense is his feelings of inadequacy, anger against authority, and anger against older men. From the defendant's early childhood, the defendant's father was an alcoholic who regularly abused his wife and children. Children of such families grow up with lower self-esteem and feelings of inadequacy. Amphetamine and alcohol, his drugs of choice, both serve to enhance the user's feelings of power and effectiveness. . . His rage at authority and older men began with his alcoholic, abusive father and was nurtured by his spending nearly three quarters of his life past the age of 13, in penal institutions. Such institutions are controlled by males, older than he, who he saw as threatening him in abusive and arbitrary ways. As with his father, he was helpless to defend himself against them except possible by use of excessive force.

\* \* \*

The above factors combined make it quite possible that the defendant did "loose it" (sic) once in a scuffle with the victim, especially if the victim picked up the larger knife as the defendant claims.

(Def. Ex. 1). Dr. Diffendale concluded: Mr. Davis' "response to the situation leading to the victim's death is understandable given the defendant's family history, jail experiences, psychological make-up and intoxication" (Def. Ex. 1).

Dr. Diffendale also stated: "He is smart enough to know that he would be blamed. He did nothing to cover himself or throw suspicion away from himself. If this act had been premeditated, he is bright enough and has had enough criminal exposure to do a better job" (Def. Ex. 1)(emphasis added).

On January 13, 1986, trial commenced. Over the course of 2 days, the State presented it's case to the jury: Raymond Hansbrough, the victim's son-in-law described the victim's background and his move to Florida (R. 1005-7). Mr. Hansbrough believed that Mr. Landis had approximately \$500 in cash on July 1<sup>st</sup> (R. 1007).

On the evening of July 2, 1985, the police and fire department were called to the Gandy Efficiency Apartments in St. Petersburg (R. 910, 914). When they arrived they found Orville Landis' body in one of the apartments (R. 910, 914). Mr. Landis had been stabbed (R. 910).

Kim Rieck and Beverly Castle had recently moved to Florida and lived at the apartment complex (R. 917, 953-4). Rieck explained that she lived in an apartment with her boyfriend, Carl Kearney, and her mother, Castle, lived in another apartment (R. 917-8). Kearney managed the apartments (R. 919).

Rieck also explained that she knew Mr. Davis from Pekin, Illinois, because he was friends with Kearney (R. 919). Mr. Davis arrived in Florida 4 days before the crime (R. 920). Mr. Davis spent those days around the apartment complex and slept in his car, empty apartments and at the Kearney's (R. 921).

On Monday, July 1<sup>st</sup>, Mr. Landis rented an apartment from Rieck (R. 923). Rieck testified that Mr. Davis was at the apartments on July 1<sup>st</sup> and met Mr. Landis because she had sent him to get her a match (R. 925-6). Thereafter, Rieck observed Mr. Davis in Mr. Landis apartment where they were talking and drinking beers (R. 927).

Rieck testified that at some point in the day, Mr. Davis told her: "he was going to take the old man for what he could" (R. 927), and that "he said get him drunk and see what he could get out of him" (R. 928). Mr. Davis also expressed his belief that the victim was "queer" (R. 929).

As to Mr. Davis' level of intoxication, the State inquired:

Q: Do you know how much either one of them had to drink during the day?

A: No.

Q: Did you have later contact with Mark Davis that day?

A: Yep.

Q: Can you tell us a little about that?

A: It was around four-thirty or five o'clock. We had Mark take us to get Carl's car . . .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>Mr. Hansbrough was never cross examined by trial counsel. His statements to law enforcement are inconsistent with his testimony concerning the amount of money Mr. Landis obtained.

Q: Now, did Mark Davis do the driving at any point in time?

A: Yes, he took us there.

Q: Did he have any difficulty in driving the car when he took you there?

A: No, he didn't.

Q: During the course of the day when you had conversations with him, was his speech slurred or impaired in any fashion?

A: No, it wasn't.

Q: Was he staggering or unable to walk properly in your opinion on all other observations of the man?

A: No.

(R. 930-1).<sup>7</sup>

Rieck testified that at 11:30 p.m. or midnight, Mr. Davis came to her room and asked to borrow a pair of socks (R. 934). He also told them he would see them in a couple of years (R. 934). He did not appear intoxicated (R. 935).

Contrary to Rieck's testimony, Castle testified that she was present at the apartment complex the morning of July 1<sup>st</sup> (R. 925, 954, 957). She testified that she observed Mr. Davis assist Mr. Landis move into his apartment (R. 959). Castle also testified that Mr. Davis wanted Mr. Landis to get involved in his tattooing business (R. 960). Castle described Mr. Davis as "a nervous young man" (R. 974).

When asked if she had seen Mr. Davis drinking, Castle said: "I seen him with a can of beer in his hands." (R. 960).

Later in the evening, Castle saw Mr. Davis and the victim arguing about money (R. 961). Castle testified:

Q: What do you mean they were arguing about money? Can you tell us what that conversation was?

 $A: Okay. \ I \ was sitting \ out \ in \ front \ of \ my \ apartment. \ Like \ I \ had \ said \ it \ was \ hot. \ There \ was \ no \ air \ conditioning. \ That's \ the \ reason \ I \ was \ even \ out \ there. \ And \ Mark \ was \ calling \ Skip \ a \ queer \ and \ said \ he \ was \ going \ to \ rip \ the \ old \ man \ off.$ 

Q: He use any other words to describe how he was going to take Mr. Landis and what he was going to take if he was going to take something?

A: Just said he was going to rip him off and do him in.

(R. 961-2). Later, Castle added her interpretation of what Mr. Davis said: "Well, that's young kids talk. I have a teenager you know. To do away with someone at least the way children I know talk, was to kill them, get rid of them" (R. 972).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>Rieck testified that Mr. Davis gave them a ride in his car. However, Mr. Davis car had been previously impounded because it was reported stolen from Illinois.

Castle was again asked about Mr. Davis' intoxication. She testified that at approximately 8:00 p.m., "Mark didn't seem like he was drunk . . . He wasn't stumbling around like [the victim] was anyway. He seemed coherent. He knew what he was doing" (R. 965). She also testified that Mr. Davis stopped drinking in the evening (R. 991). On cross examination, defense counsel attempted to impeach Castle with her statement that was taken on July 2<sup>nd</sup>, wherein Castle told the police that Mark got drunker and drunker throughout the day (R. 977), and that Mr. Davis and Mr. Landis drank beer and vodka (R. 979). During the statement, Detective Rhodes specifically asked Castle if they were both drunk and Castle stated: "Oh, bad, very bad.". Additionally, Castle had told the police that at 10:30 p.m., "they were both real drunk." (R. 978).

Detectives Rhodes and Halliday testified that they interrogated Mr. Davis when he was arrested in Illinois (R. 1262). Initially, Mr. Davis denied having any knowledge about the victim's death (R. 1272). Det. Rhodes told the jury:

At that point, Mark said, I guess I will tell you the truth. He started back and he told everything was true about meeting the victim earlier that day with the beer, that he had helped him unload his car, they had drank some, that he had borrowed \$20 from the victim during the day and he pawned his tattoo equipment. He had a blue and white cooler with Tattoo equipment inside it and he had borrowed \$20 from the equipment, gave him that as security.

He then said that he and the victim drank and went to several bars, the Dave's Aqua Lounge and Golden Arrow Pub and he said about 11, somewhere around 11 o'clock, the victim went to bed.

He went down — he went back over to the Golden Arrow Pub. You (sic) came back for a pair of socks from Carl Kearney, went back and knocked on the victim's door and said the victim was dressed in nothing but a pair of pants, no shirt, no shoes. He told the victim he needed to borrow — at this point Davis didn't remember whether it was \$2 or \$5 that he needed to borrow from him. The victim told him he would have to do something for it. He reached down and grabbed — Davis said, grabbed my nuts and I struck him at this time with my right hand somewhere around the neck or throat area, knocking him down on the floor.

\* \* \*

Victim laid there grasping for breath and choking. In a little bit, he got back up and he struck him the second time. He didn't know where he struck him, whether right hand or his left hand. He hit him again. They began to fight. He walked back to the small room towards the kitchen area. Victim picked up a long butcher knife. He took the butcher knife away from the victim and began hitting him with it.

Q: . . . At that point in time is he saying they were over by the bed?

A: On the bed.

\* \* \*

A: He said he hit him several times with the knife, with the big butcher knife. He got a smaller knife which is over in that area and that he cut his throat with the smaller knife and stabbed him several times with it.

Then he said, he got up, washed the blood off the knives in the bathroom sink and washed his hands.

\* \* \*

Said went through the victim's wallet. He got 80 or \$85 out of the wallet and at this time, he was afraid so he took the victim's car and he went to Tampa.

(R. 1274-7).

Shannon Stevens met Mr. Davis at the Pinellas County Jail. Stevens testified that Mr. Davis made a statement to him: Mark told me that he had killed the man, that the man was queer and he was hustling him.

\* \* \*

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