IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MARK ALLEN DAVIS,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC11-359 L.T. No. 85-8933 CFANO Death Penalty Case

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SIXTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR PINELLAS COUNTY, FLORIDA

\_\_\_\_/

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI ATTORNEY GENERAL

CANDANCE M. SABELLA Chief Assistant Attorney General Capital Appeals Bureau Chief Florida Bar No. 0445071 Concourse Center 4 3507 E. Frontage Road, Suite 200 Tampa, Florida 33607-7013 Telephone: (813) 287-7910 Facsimile: (813) 281-5501

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

#

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

Moreover, the record reflects that evidence of Davis's alleged intoxication was in fact presented to the jury through State witnesses Kimberly Rieck and Beverly Castle. Detective Rhodes also testified that Davis told him that on the date of the murder he had been drinking all day. Thus, Davis's claim on the intoxication issue is ultimately that the voluntary intoxication defense was not pursued as vigorously as it should have been because trial counsel failed to present additional witnesses who had knowledge of Davis's intoxication. However, the evidence of intoxication presented was in fact more than sufficient to support a jury instruction on voluntary intoxication and, if believed, provide a basis upon which the jury could respond. Therefore, this claim was properly denied. See Patton v. State, 878 So.2d 368, 373 (Fla. 2004) (rejecting the defendant's claim that the voluntary intoxication defense was not pursued as vigorously as it should have been when the record indicated that defense counsel relied on the limited evidence of intoxication elicited from the State's witnesses, all of which was enough to support a jury instruction on voluntary intoxication).

Davis claims that trial counsel was ineffective because he failed to discover prior to trial the inconsistent statements of Beverly Castle and Kim Rieck, which precluded counsel from effectively cross-examining these witnesses. At the evidentiary hearing, White testified that he did cross-examine both Rieck and Castle regarding their conflicting statements on the degree of Davis's intoxication on the date of the crime. Contrary to Davis's assertion, the transcript of White's crossexamination of both Rieck and Castle reveals that counsel was indeed aware of their prior statements to the police and that he did in fact use them to impeach these witnesses at trial. Based on the foregoing, this claim is without merit.

Davis further claims that trial counsel failed to object to the inadequate jury instruction on voluntary intoxication. The instruction on voluntary intoxication was given and is contained in the record, and, therefore, as a substantive matter this claim could and should have been presented on direct appeal. Accordingly, this claim is procedurally barred in this proceeding. Procedural bar of the substantive claim notwithstanding, the ineffective assistance of counsel claim is meritless. Davis has not explained how and why the instruction was inadequate. As noted by the trial court, White cannot be held ineffective for not objecting to a proper instruction. Therefore, we conclude that the trial court properly denied relief with regard to this claim.

Davis contends that trial counsel was ineffective in attempting to present a self-defense or sexual advance defense. At trial, Detective Rhodes testified that Davis told him that he knocked on the victim's door on the night of the murder and told the victim he needed to borrow some money. At that point, Davis told the detective that the victim told Davis he would have to do something for it and the victim reached down and grabbed Davis's testicles. This Court has not previously recognized that a nonviolent homosexual advance may constitute sufficient provocation to incite an individual to lose his self-control and commit acts in the heat of passion, thus reducing murder to manslaughter. Therefore, Davis's claim with regard to the sexual advance theory is unpersuasive.

With regard to the self-defense theory, White testified at the evidentiary hearing that his strategy was not to seek an acquittal on the basis that the killing was committed in self-defense. Rather, the selfdefense theory was part of an overall attempt to convince the jury to lessen any conviction down from first- to second-degree murder. In fact, trial counsel testified that he did not see evidence to believe a self-defense theory and it was his view the jury would also reject that approach. The fact that present counsel might or would have chosen a different strategy does not render trial counsel's decision unreasonable or ineffective. See State, 856 So.2d 969, 976 Cooper v. (Fla. 2003). Moreover, evidence of self-defense was actually presented before the jury. Detective Rhodes testified that Davis advised him that he and the victim began to fight and that it was the victim who first picked up a long butcher knife. It was Davis's statement that he obtained the knife as he disarmed the victim. As noted by the trial court, the crime scene video was shown to the jury and any evidence of a struggle would have been apparent to the jury from this crime scene video. Finally, White argued self-defense during closing and the jury was in fact given the self-defense instruction. Based on the foregoing, we conclude that counsel's performance was not and that Davis has failed to establish deficient prejudice.

Davis asserts that counsel was ineffective in forfeiting opportunities to negotiate with the State regarding whether the State would seek the death penalty in this case. At the evidentiary hearing, White testified that it was never communicated to him that the State had the authority to offer Davis a life sentence. Trial counsel stated that he did not believe that Davis ever asked him before trial to approach the State to seek a plea in exchange for a waiver of death. Davis has not presented any evidence demonstrating that the State in fact provided trial counsel an opportunity to engage in negotiating. Therefore, has any Davis failed to demonstrate that trial counsel was deficient in this respect. Accordingly, this claim should also be rejected.

With regard to Davis's cumulative error argument, the trial court properly found this claim to be without merit. "Where individual claims of error alleged are either procedurally barred or without merit, the claim of cumulative error must fail." *Griffin v. State*, 866 So.2d 1, 21 (Fla.2003); see also Downs v. State, 740 So.2d 506, 509 n. 5 (Fla.1999).

Davis, 928 So. 2d at 1116-1121.

Davis' first successive post conviction motion raising a similar claim was summarily denied by this Court which explained:

In his motion, Davis failed to allege specific facts to establish either deficient performance or prejudice, which are necessary to demonstrate entitlement to an evidentiary hearing. See Jones v. State, 998 So.2d 573, 587-88 (Fla. 2008) (citing Rhodes v. State, 986 So.2d 501, 513-14 (Fla. 2008); Doorbal v. State, 983 So.2d 464, 483 (Fla. 2008); Spera, 971 So.2d at 758). Here, the stated that the "circumstances surrounding motion [Kearney] and Castle's trial testimony was not known to trial counsel or if it was known [then] trial counsel was ineffective in failing to inform the jury of the true motive for testifying." witnesses' (Emphasis supplied.) In addition, counsel stated during the Huff hearing that other than the record there was no further documentary evidence to prove these claims. Consequently, Davis failed to allege any specific facts that would establish ineffective assistance. This is a deficiency that could not be corrected through an amendment to the motion thereby rendering this claim legally insufficient. See Spera, 971 So.2d at 755. Absent a specific allegation that trial counsel was informed that Castle lied with regard to the statement that Davis planned to "do away with" the victim, trial counsel could not be deficient for failing to pursue a recantation of testimony that was neither suspect nor clearly false. In other words, without defense counsel being informed of or discovering perjury, counsel would be in the dark as to its falsity. Counsel cannot be expected to seek recantations of every witness without some indication that the testimony was false. Even if Davis could amend the pleading to set forth specific facts establishing ineffective assistance of counsel, this would inevitably undermine his newly discovered evidence claim because trial counsel would have known of the perjury at the time of trial and would have needed to make some efforts during this time to establish due diligence. Thus, the motion clearly demonstrates that Davis has no sufficient allegations to support this claim.

Further, Davis would not be able to demonstrate prejudice even if an evidentiary hearing were granted on this claim because the recantation does not establish a probability of changing the outcome, such that it undermines this Court's confidence in the verdict. *See Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 694, 104 S.Ct. 2052. Thus, we affirm the postconviction trial court's summary denial of this claim.

Davis v. State, 26 So. 3d 519, 533-534 (Fla. 2009).

### Order of the lower court on Porter claim

The trial court denied the Porter claim, explaining:

This Court finds that the Defendant's motion is untimely, successive, and procedurally barred. Rule 3.851 (d)(1) bars postconviction motions filed more than one year after a judgment and sentence become final. The Defendant's judgment and sentence became final in 1994 when the Florida Supreme Court denied certiorari, making his motion untimely. <u>Davis v. Florida</u>, 510 U.S. 1170 (1994); <u>see also</u> Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.851(d)(1)(B).

Rule 3.851(d)(2) provides several exceptions to this one-year time limitation; however, the Defendant fails to establish that his motion qualifies for any exception. Specifically, rule 3.851(d)(2)(B) allows for successive motions beyond the one-year time limit if the successive alleges a newly established motion fundamental constitutional right that applies retroactively. The Defendant does not specifically assert that Porter creates a retroactive fundamental right under rule 3.851(d)(2)(B). Instead, he argues that Porter represents a recent articulation of Strickland prejudice, correcting a misconception in state courts which had failed to conduct a probing, fact-specific prejudice analysis, which he characterizes as a "sweeping" change in the law. Relying on Witt v. State, 387 So. 2d 922 (Fla. 1980), the Defendant argues that Porter necessitates further review by this Court of his claim of ineffective assistance of counsel concerning mitigating evidence. And, the

Defendant relies on <u>Delap v. Dugger</u>, 513 So. 2d 659 (Fla. 1987), and <u>Downs v. Dugger</u>, 514 So. 2d 1069 (Fla. 1987), which reference <u>Thompson v. Dugger</u>, 515 So. 2d 173 (Fla. 1987), in which the Florida Supreme Court permitted retroactive application of <u>Hitchcock</u>, which he claims allows him to re-raise his original ineffective assistance of counsel claims in the present, successive motion.

The Defendant's motion does not meet any exception to the time limits of rule 3.851. The Florida Supreme Court held in that "only the Florida Supreme Court and the United States Supreme Court can adopt a change of law sufficient to precipitate a post-conviction challenge to a final conviction and sentence." <u>Witt</u>, 387 So. 2d at 930. <u>Witt</u> limits the courts which can make such changes in the law to the Florida Supreme Court and the United States Supreme Court.

The Florida Supreme Court has acknowledged that Porter does not represent a change in the application of the ineffective assistance of counsel analysis under Strickland. See Everett v. State, 2010 WL 4007643 (Fla. Oct. 14, 2010); Schoenwetter v. State, 2010 WL 2605961 (Fla. July 1, 2010); Stewart v. State, 37 So. 3d 243, 247 (Fla. 2010); Rodriguez v. State, 39 So. 2d 275, 285 (Fla. 2010). The Defendant does not cite to any case holding that Porter establishes a new fundamental constitutional right which is to be applied retroactively. Because no court has held that Porter established a new fundamental constitutional right which is to be retroactively applied, the Defendant's argument amounts to a request this Court find that Porter that constitutes а retroactive, fundamental change to constitutional law. Therefore, this Court lacks the authority to grant the Defendant the relief he requests, the establishment of a new rule of constitutional significance and application of that rule retroactively.

While <u>Witt</u> and <u>Hitchcock</u> either announced a new right or a change in analysis of constitutional law claims, <u>Porter</u> does not. The United States Supreme Court explained that <u>Porter</u> does not change the <u>Strickland</u> analysis; it simply represents an application of <u>Strickland</u> to the facts of the <u>Porter</u> case. It does not provide a basis for this Court to reconsider the Defendant's postconviction claims. Furthermore, unlike <u>Hitchcock</u>, which involved the invalidity of jury instructions statewide, the ineffective assistance of
counsel claims addressed in <u>Porter</u> are unique to each individual defendant and case and must be separately analyzed in light of Strickland.

The Defendant reasserts his previously denied claims of ineffective assistance of counsel, relying on Sochor v. State, 883 So. 2d 766 (Fla. 2004). The Defendant argues that because Sochor cited to Porter the Florida Supreme Court's analysis in Sochor must have been flawed, implying that Porter found an inherent flaw in the Florida Supreme Court's Strickland analysis, which in turn permits a re-examination of the previously decided claims in his case. However, Sochor only cited to Porter as being a case which also involved conflicting expert opinions and in connection with its finding "that the circuit court's decision to credit the testimony of the State's mental health experts over the testimony of Sochor's new experts is supported by competent, substantial evidence." Sochor, 883 So. 2d at 783, citing Porter. This finding is in accordance with the mixed standard of review applied in Strickland.

Claims raised in prior postconviction proceedings cannot be re-litigated in a successive postconviction motion unless the defendant can demonstrate that the grounds for relief were not known and could not have been known at the time of the earlier proceeding. See <u>Wright</u> <u>v. State</u>, 857 So. 2d 861, 868 (Fla. 2003). In the Defendant's case, unlike <u>Porter</u>, the state courts did address trial counsel's performance at the penalty phase, finding that it was not deficient, and did address the postconviction testimony as applied to statutory and nonstatutory mitigation, and found no prejudice under <u>Strickland</u>. Therefore, because the Defendant's claims have been previously addressed, they are procedurally barred. <u>See Topps v. State</u>, 865 So. 2d 1253, 1255 (Fla. 2004).

### Conclusion

In light of the above, the Defendant has failed to bring a timely, cognizable claim in this motion for postconviction relief. Therefore, the Defendant's motion is denied.

(2SPCR/146-48)

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The lower court properly denied this untimely, procedurally barred successive motion for post conviction relief. Davis' claim did not meet the requirements of Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851(d)(2)(B). *Porter* did not change the law, and even if it had, that change would not be retroactive. The claim in the motion was a procedurally barred attempt to relitigate a previously denied claim. Further, Davis failed to prove deficiency and does not even allege herein that the lack of deficiency was affected by *Porter*. Additionally, Davis did not raise a *Porter* claim about his guilt phase counsel and, therefore, it is not properly before this Court. Finally, Davis' counsel was not even authorized to file this frivolous motion.

#### ARGUMENT

# THE LOWER COURT PROPERLY SUMMARILY DENIED APPELLANT'S SUCCESSIVE MOTION FOR POST CONVICTION RELIEF.

Appellant asserts that the lower court should have granted his successive motion for post conviction relief by holding that *Porter v. McCollum*, 130 S. Ct. 447 (2009), constitutes a fundamental repudiation of this Court's *Strickland* jurisprudence, which constitutes a change in law that satisfies the *Witt v. State*, 387 So. 2d 922 (Fla. 1980) standard. He contends that it was proper for him to raise this claim in a successive, time barred motion for post conviction relief. He insists that if the alleged change in law from *Porter* was applied to this case, it would show that he was prejudiced by the alleged deficiency of counsel in both the guilt and penalty phase.